1953

# In the Matter of the Adoption of Diane Deveraux and Gene Deveraux : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the 31st day of August, 1950 the Juvenile Court of the Third Judicial District, in and for Utah County, State of Utah, made and entered its decree declaring that the natural parents, Ellis Deveraux and Rhea Walker Deveraux (Rhea Walker Brown, appellant), were unfit and improper persons to have the care, custody, control and guardianship of said children, committing the children to the Utah State Department of Public Welfare for foster home care, treatment and supervision. The decree, in part, states as follows:

“IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, by the Court that said Larry, Blaine, Gene and Dianne Deveroux be and they (are) hereby declared and adjudged to be dependent, neglected, children within the meaning of the laws of Utah, in such cases made and provided, and that subject to the continuing jurisdiction of the Court, the said: children be committed to the Utah State Department of Public Welfare for foster home care, treatment, and supervision. And it is further ordered by the Court that the father, Ellis Deveroux pay \$100.00 per month for their support and maintenance.” (Tr. 54, 246).

Thereafter the children were placed in the home of Mr. and Mrs. Lindberg (Tr. 134, 196, 214). Later on the children were placed in different foster homes. On the 17th day of January, 1951 Gene Deveraux was placed in the home of Clyde D. Sandgren and Zola M. Sandgren, his wife (Tr. 140), and on the 6th day of February, 1951

Diane Deveraux was placed in the home of Ray Cole Stickney and Dona Merl Stickney, his wife (Tr. 140); that on the 9th day of January, 1951 Rhea Walker Brown, formerly Rhea Deveraux, in the District Court of the Fourth Judicial District, in and for Utah County, State of Utah, obtained a decree of divorce from the said Ellis Deveraux (Tr. 65); that throughout the period of time from when the children were taken from their natural parents appellant, pursuant to the Juvenile Court decree, made payments for their support (Tr. 85), inquired as to their well-being (Tr. 67) and asked to see them but was advised that the Welfare Department thought it would be best for her not to visit with the children (Tr. 78); that F. M. Alder, the Judge of the Juvenile Court for the Third District, who acted as attorney for appellant in her divorce suit, wrote to appellant on the 10th day of February, 1951 the following letter:

“Mrs. Rhea Deveraux,  
Tooele, Utah.

Dear Mrs. Deveraux:

Thank you for the inclosure of the money order, which completes final payment.

It is likely best that you have moved to Tooele, and the other things that you mention regarding your future are also desirable. Let me suggest again, that after you are married, that you AGAIN get married after the six months have expired, so as to make your marriage legal. Under the present conditions you should get mar-

ried as soon as you can conveniently. Of course, your future prospects and conduct will determine the results as to the children.

You surely have my best wishes.

Very truly yours,

(signed) F. M. ALDER" (Tr. 244),

copy of which was submitted in evidence as Exhibit "2" (Tr. 114), and on the 11th day of May, 1951 he again wrote to appellant the following letter:

"Mrs. Rhea Brown  
Tooele  
Utah

Dear Mrs. Brown:

The contents of your letter of May 9th have been read and noted. I am glad that you are married and I wish you every success and all the happiness that can be obtained in your marriage.

As to your children, don't worry about them because the gossip about adoption by July cannot be anything but gossip and you do not need to worry about that as there is no time, within a reasonable time, that such procedure ever occurs. The best advice I can give you at the present time is that you try to make your present marriage a success and let the future take care of itself as it comes along. Your children are in good hands so that you need not worry about their being cared for.

The papers you asked for will have to be kept here by me in my files so that they will be available to me at all times and if you got them, you might lose them.



Wishing you the best that life can afford, I remain,

Sincerely yours,

THIRD JUVENILE DISTRICT  
COURT

(signed) F. M. ALDER

F. M. Alder

Judge" (Tr. 243),

copy of which was admitted in evidence as Exhibit "1" (Tr. 114).

That on April 2, 1952 the District Court of the Fourth Judicial District in and for Utah County, State of Utah, entered a decree of adoption of the minor child Gene Deveraux (Tr. 4-5), and on the 4th day of June, 1952 said court entered a decree of adoption for the child Diane Deveraux (Tr. 6-7). No notice of hearing on the petition for the adoption in either case was given to appellant and, in fact, the first knowledge that the mother of said children had concerning said adoption was a day or two after the adoption orders had been entered (Tr. 65). Thereupon appellant immediately contacted M. Earl Marshall, then a practicing attorney in Tooele, Utah (Tr. 66), and on or about the 8th day of July, 1952 she filed in said District Court for the Fourth Judicial District, in and for Utah County, State of Utah, a complaint seeking a writ of habeas corpus and custody of the said children (Tr. 68, 126). This habeas corpus matter has never been finally determined.

That thereafter appellant was served with notice that the two adoption matters would come up for hearing on a certain day and said matters came on for hearing on February 4, 1953. At the hearing the decrees of adoption heretofore entered by Judge Dunford and Judge Tuckett were vacated (Tr. 30). Testimony was offered on behalf of petitioners concerning the allegations in their petitions for adoption and the father of said children, Ellis E. Deveraux, executed his written consent to the adoption of each child (Tr. 35, 55), and it was stipulated that Mr. and Mrs. Stickney and Mr. and Mrs. Sandgren were fit and proper persons to adopt the respective children (Tr. 44, 56).

Prior to the taking of testimony, and after the testimony above set forth was offered, appellant filed her written motion (Diane Deveraux Tr. 9, Gene Deveraux Tr. 6) and made an oral motion (Tr. 52, 62) to dismiss the petitions for adoption upon the following grounds: (1) there was another action pending; (2) that the Juvenile Court had exclusive jurisdiction; (3) that the consent for adoption had never been given by the natural mother; and (4) that the children had never been placed in a children's aid society pursuant to Section 55-10-40, Utah Code Annotated 1953, nor had the Juvenile Court authorized the adoption pursuant to Section 55-10-43, Utah Code Annotated 1953. These motions were denied (Tr. 63) and further hearing was had in said matter.

The evidence discloses that after appellant had been divorced from her former husband she married her present husband, Henry Brown (Tr. 65), and is living at Stockton, Utah (Tr. 64), and that she had changed her manner of living by stopping her drinking (Tr. 77, 98). It was shown that she was a fit and proper person to have the care and custody of her children (Tr. 94, 102, 108, 109). Mr. Brown, husband of appellant, testified that he made \$5200.00 a year (Tr. 92), that he was perfectly willing to have Mrs. Brown have the children, and that he would take care of them and treat them as his own children (Tr. 94).

Mrs. Eloise Morley, social worker, testified that from a psychological point of view she thought it would be against the interests of the children to have them transferred from their present locations back to their mother (Tr. 200). Mrs. Elsa V. Harris, social worker, testified to the same effect (Tr. 218). Dr. Walter T. Hasler, who specializes in eye, nose and throat (Tr. 180), gave his opinion as to the effect of moving Gene from the Sandgren home (Tr. 183). On cross examination he stated that the manner in which Gene was treated in the future, if his home was changed, would have a great deal of bearing on the matter (Tr. 184A). Mark K. Allen, a psychologist and teacher at the Brigham Young University, gave his opinion that it would be detrimental to move the children (Tr. 228-231). On cross examination he stated that in some cases he thought the State should have control of children and that if there was friction in

the home, or if there was not moral stability and the children would get along a little better if taken out of the home of the natural parents, then the child should be removed (Tr. 231-232).

Numerous other witnesses testified as to the children's behavior since being placed in the home of the adopting parents and as to their care and treatment in said homes. As it has already been stipulated that the adopting parents are proper and fit persons to have the custody and control of said children, we did not deem it necessary or material to set forth in this statement of facts where this testimony might be found.

On the 27th day of May, 1953 the court made and entered its findings of fact, conclusions of law and decree in both of said matters (Diane Deveraux Tr. 17-22, Gene Deveraux Tr. 15-20), granting the adoption of said children by the respective adopting parents.

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

### I. THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS.

- A. The Juvenile Court Had Exclusive Jurisdiction of The Care, Custody And Control Of The Minor Children.
- B. The Natural Parents Had Not Been Permanently Deprived Of The Custody Of The Minor Children.
- C. Written Consent For Adoption Is Required From The Natural Mother Or, If Not, From The Juvenile Court Or Children's Aid Society.

II. THE WELFARE OF A CHILD IS NOT THE PARAMOUNT ISSUE AS TO WHETHER THE COURT HAS JURISDICTION OR AUTHORITY TO PERMIT AN ADOPTION.

III. THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO ADMIT IN EVIDENCE THE FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND DECREE AND JUDGMENT OF THE JUVENILE COURT DATED FEBRUARY 13, 1953.

IV. THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO ADMIT IN EVIDENCE THE WRITTEN REPORT OF THE TOOELE COUNTY WELFARE DEPARTMENT.

V. THE COURT ERRED IN ITS FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW.

- A. The Court Erred In Finding That The Juvenile Court Permanently Deprived The Natural Parents Of Custody Of Said Children.
- B. The Court Erred In Making Its Findings Of Fact 10 And 11.
- C. The Court Erred In Making Its Conclusions of Law 1, 2 And 3.
- D. The Court Erred In Failing To Make A Finding As To Whether The Mother Was, Or Was Not, A Fit And Proper Person To Have The Custody Of Her Children.

## ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS.

- A. The Juvenile Court Had Exclusive Jurisdiction of The Care, Custody And Control Of The Minor Children.

The Juvenile Court was the first one to take jurisdiction over the minor children here in question. That court, after proper notice, held that the children were dependent and neglected. This was on August 31, 1950, when it entered its order declaring said children dependent and neglected and provided that, subject to the continuing jurisdiction of the court, the children were to be committed to the Utah State Department of Public Welfare for foster home care, treatment and supervision (Tr. 54, 246). At the time the original petition for adoption was filed with the District Court and at the time of the hearing of this matter and the entry of the findings, conclusions and decree from which this appeal is taken, this decree or order of the Juvenile Court had not been modified, changed or vacated. The Juvenile Court, under such facts, had exclusive jurisdiction of the care, custody and control of said minor children.

Our statute covering jurisdiction of juvenile courts provides, in part, as follows:

“55-10-5. Jurisdiction of juvenile courts.—  
The juvenile court shall have exclusive original jurisdiction in all cases relating to the neglect, dependency and delinquency of children who are under eighteen years of age, \* \* \* .

(3) When jurisdiction shall have been acquired by the court in the case of any child, such child shall continue for the purposes of such case under the jurisdiction of the court until he becomes twenty-one years of age, unless dis-

charged prior thereto or unless he is committed to the state industrial school or to the district court as hereinafter provided."

*Section 55-10-31, Utah Code Annotated 1953*, provides for the modification of decrees and is as follows:

"55-10-31. Modification during minority.—In-operative after majority.—No judgment or decree of the juvenile court shall operate after the child becomes twenty-one years of age and all orders, judgments and decrees, except commitments to the district court or to the state industrial school, may be modified or revoked by the court at any time before the child becomes twenty-one years of age."

*Section 55-10-41, Utah Code Annotated 1953*, sets forth the proceedings to be followed for the return of custody of the children to their parents and states, in part, as follows:

"55-10-41. Proceedings to return custody to parents.—A parent, guardian or next friend of a child who has been committed to any children's aid society or institution \* \* \* may at any time file with the clerk of the juvenile court a petition \* \* \* asking for the return of such child to its parents or guardian, for the reason that they have reformed or the conditions have changed and that they are fit and proper persons to have its custody and are able to support and educate it."

*Section 55-10-5, Utah Code Annotated 1953*, has been interpreted and held by this court to mean that the Juvenile Court, having taken jurisdiction properly, has

exclusive jurisdiction of the care, custody and control of the children and continues to have such until changed by appeal or by its own order. *Jensen v. Sevy*, 103 Utah 220, 134 Pac. 2d 1081. In this case all of the judges, with the exception of Larson and Moffat, specifically so hold. Justice Wolfe, in his concurring opinion, states:

"The opinion of Judge Hoyt expresses my opinion on the reason and interpretation of the action of the District Court in refusing to take jurisdiction of the question raised by the writ of habeas corpus and the intention of the District Court in dismissing the writ. It also expresses my opinion that where the Juvenile Court has obtained jurisdiction of a child because of neglect, dependency or delinquency, the District Court must dismiss the writ. It is not discretionary. The orders of the Juvenile Court are appealed to this court under Sec. 14-7-33, Utah Code Ann. 1943, and the judgment of the Juvenile Court cannot be overturned by suing out a writ and obtaining a hearing on the very same issue by that method either in the District or the Supreme Court."

Judge Hoyt states:

"I think it reasonably clear that what the court did was to hear the habeas corpus matter and, finding that the child involved had been taken into the custody of the Juvenile Court, because of neglect or misconduct of the father (petitioner) and that the juvenile court had retained jurisdiction of the matter, the district court concluded, and I think rightly, that it had no jurisdiction to take the child from the custody



of the juvenile court or to determine the question of the father's fitness to have his child returned to him."

"In my opinion it was not a matter of discretion. I think the legislature intended to confer exclusive original jurisdiction upon the juvenile court to determine such questions in every case wherein the state had become a party by the juvenile court taking custody of a child because of neglect or delinquency. The provisions of subsection 4 of section 14-7-4 R.S. relating to powers of courts to determine questions of custody in habeas corpus proceedings should not, in my opinion, be construed to apply to cases in which the state has become a party by intervention of the juvenile court. Unless we so construe it we cannot reasonably give effect to the provision of subsection 3 of section 14-7-4 that 'When jurisdiction shall have been acquired by the court in the case of any child, such child shall continue for the purposes of such case under the jurisdiction of the court until he becomes twenty-one years of age, unless discharged prior thereto or unless he is committed to the state industrial school or to the district court as hereinafter provided.'"

The case of *Chatwin v. Terry*, 107 Utah 340, 153 Pac. 2d 941, affirms this decision.

The State of Kansas has gone even further and held that where the District Court obtained original jurisdiction in a divorce case of the custody of children that thereafter, when the Juvenile Court determined that the

child was a dependent and neglected child, the Juvenile Court ousted the District Court of the existing jurisdiction. *Trent v. Bellamy*, (Kan.) 190 Pac. 2d 400:

"It follows that the juvenile court in this case could acquire jurisdiction of the minor child and thereby oust the then existing jurisdiction of the district court in the divorce action. However, this can only be done upon a finding based upon substantial evidence that the child was neglected and dependent within the statutory definition."

This case is affirmed by the case of *Houser v. Houser*, (Kan.) 199 Pac. 2d 497.

In the case of *Ross v. Ross*, (Colo.) 5 Pac. 2d 246, the court held as follows:

"The jurisdiction of the divorce court is exercised as between the husband and the wife; that of the juvenile court 'as between the state, or, so to speak, the child, and the parents of the child.' *State v. McCloskey*, 136 La. 739, 67 So. 813, 814. The two courts may have simultaneous, though not concurrent, jurisdiction concerning the custody of the child. *Id.* But, where both courts have made orders concerning such custody, the operation of the order of the divorce court is suspended during the period, and only during the period, that the order of the juvenile court remains in force."

**B. The Natural Parents Had Not Been Permanently Deprived Of The Custody Of The Minor Children.**

The question arises as to what is the meaning of the words "judicially deprived of the custody of the

child on account of cruelty, neglect or desertion." There can be but one meaning to these words and that is that the parent has been permanently and absolutely deprived of the custody of the child. The decree of the Juvenile Court clearly indicates that this is not the case as it provides for continuing jurisdiction and that the father of the children shall furnish support therefor. The statutes covering Juvenile Courts likewise indicate that proceedings of the nature of the one presented here do not contemplate the permanent or absolute divesting of the custody of a minor child from its parents. *Section 55-10-5 (3), Utah Code Annotated 1953*, provides that the jurisdiction of the court shall continue until the child becomes twenty-one years of age, unless discharged prior thereto or committed to the state industrial school or to the district court. *55-10-32, Utah Code Annotated 1953*, is the section covering the preferred rights of parents to custody of children and *55-10-41, Utah Code Annotated 1953*, is the section covering the procedure to return the custody of children to their parents, based upon the ground that the parents have reformed or that conditions have changed and that they are fit and proper persons to have its custody and are able to support and educate the child.

The Juvenile Court, by ordering that the father of the children pay \$100.00 per month for their support and maintenance, clearly indicated that it did not intend to permanently deprive the parents of custody of said

children. Payments were made by appellant for their support (Tr. 85).

In a good many of the statutes of other states there is a provision, in addition to the one in our statutes, that provides that it shall not be necessary to obtain a consent from the father or mother deprived of civil rights or adjudged guilty of adultery or cruelty and for such cause divorced and deprived of the custody of the child, and by the great weight of authority the courts of these different states have held that such a provision does not do away with the giving of the consent of the parents unless the parent has been absolutely deprived of the custody.

*Onsrud v. Lehman*, (N. Mex.) 243 Pac. 2d 600. In this case the lower court approved a petition to adopt two minor children without the consent of their natural father, where the mother had procured a divorce from such father on the ground of cruelty and she had been awarded custody of such children, with the father being granted the right of visitation at reasonable times. The New Mexico statute was as follows:

“Section 25-207, N. M. S. A., 1941 Comp., reads:

*‘A legitimate child cannot be adopted without the consent of its parents, if living together; and if legally separated, the consent of the parent having legal custody of the child must be obtained. It shall not be necessary to obtain the consent from a father or mother deprived of civil rights or ad-*

*judged guilty of adultery or cruelty, and for such cause divorced and deprived of the custody of the child, or adjudged to be an habitual drunkard, or who has been judicially deprived of the custody of the child on account of cruelty to, abandonment and neglect of, the child or of infamous conduct.'* (Emphasis supplied.)"

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