1953

In the Matter of the Adoption of Diane Deveraux and Gene Deveraux : Appellees' Brief

Utah Supreme Court

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

"None of these statutory equivalents of consent is present in the instant case. There is no contention that the relator is insane or imprisoned, and the court expressly found that he was not guilty of wilful desertion or neglect to provide for the child."

The rationale of this decision clearly is that if any of *the statutory equivalents* mentioned in the above quotation had been present, *as is the case in the instant proceedings*, the court could and would have decreed the adoption without the consent of the father.

In the instant cases *the statutory equivalent of consent* is the decree of the Juvenile Court depriving the natural parents of custody, on account of neglect.

Appellant argues however, that if the court can, by any justification, hold that the consent of the natural mother was not necessary, the District Court still did not have jurisdiction to grant the adoption without obtaining the consent and approval of the Juvenile Court (Br. 28). If this be a question of lack of jurisdiction of the District Court because of the Juvenile Court having exclusive jur-

isdiction, as argued under Point I A of appellant's brief, certainly the consent of the Juvenile Court would not confer jurisdiction. If however, it is a question of the right to proceed and proof, it is immaterial under *Section 78-30-4 U. C. A.* whether the consent of the Juvenile Court is obtained or not. *Section 55-10-30 (5) U. C. A.*, infra, permits the Juvenile Court in the cases of neglect to dispose of the child "in any other way, [with certain exceptions not material] that may in the discretion and judgment of the court under all circumstances be for the best interest of the child * * *." In view of these provisions the method provided by *Sections 55-10-40 and 55-10-43 U. C. A.* is not exclusive, but is merely one of the ways that adoptions may be effected. This method has no bearing whatsoever in the instant proceedings and of course can have no effect upon the jurisdiction of the court below.

POINT IV.

THE DISTRICT COURT WAS REQUIRED TO
CONSIDER AND MAKE FINDINGS AS TO
THE BEST INTERESTS OF THE CHILDREN.

As the heading of Point II of appellant's brief (p. 29) it is stated that "the welfare of a child is not the paramount issue as to whether the court has jurisdiction or authority to permit an adoption."

We have no quarrel with this statement but have difficulty understanding its place in appellant's brief. At no time have these appellees contended that in determining

the jurisdiction or authority of the court below to decree the adoptions the welfare of the children was the paramount issue or any issue. This Court however, has held, as quoted in appellant's brief (p. 33), in *In re Adoption of D - -*, (Utah) 252 P. (2d) 223, that "nevertheless, when questions of child custody arise, the welfare of the child and her chances for a suitable home environment and advantages in nurture, training and education to the end that she may live and be conditioned for a well adjusted happy and useful life are important factors to consider. In fact, it is often stated that such considerations are of paramount importance. However, this is modified by the presumption¹ that the welfare of the child will best be subserved by being in the custody of its natural parent."

If, as is stated in appellant's brief (pp. 29-30) "the District Court in these matters clearly indicates by its findings of fact and conclusions of law in each case that it was upon its finding that it would be to the best interests of the children that they be adopted * * * that it entered its decrees of adoption," *this was precisely what it was re-*

¹ "Presumptions," as said in *Machowik v. Kansas City etc. R. Co.*, (Mo.) 94 S. W. 256, 262, "may be looked on as the bats of the law, flitting in the twilight, but disappearing in the sunshine of actual facts." In *Peters v. Lohr*, (S. D.) 124 N. W. 853, 855, this well-recognized principle is aptly stated as follows: "the presumption, where the opposite party has produced prima facie evidence, has spent its force and served its purpose, and the party then, in whose favor the presumption operated must meet his opponent's prima facie evidence, and not presumptions." "A presumption is not evidence of a fact, but purely a conclusion." As we shall point out later in this brief the evidence is not only overwhelming but in fact uncontroverted, and the fact so found by the court below on such evidence, that the physical, emotional and moral health and stability of the said children, their security and best interests will best be promoted by the adoptions and that the mental and physical health of the children would be endangered and it would be a psychological risk and detrimental to their physical, emotional, and moral health and stability to return them to the appellant.

quired to do. The court, however, did not find or conclude, as set forth in the omitted portion of this quotation above and as inferred by the entire statement, that it would be to the best interests of the children “that the natural mother be deprived of her own children.” It was unnecessary to so find or conclude because this was already an accomplished fact brought about by the decree of the Juvenile Court which under *Jensen v. Sevy*, *supra*, was binding on the District Court.

We do contend, however, that under the provisions of *Section 78-30-9 U. C. A.*, *infra*, the District Court was required to inquire into facts concerning the best interests of the children and, having found and concluded to its satisfaction that the best interests of the children would be promoted thereby, it was *mandatory* that the court decree the adoptions.

Appellant remarks that nowhere in the findings, conclusions or decree is it determined that the natural mother was not a fit and proper person to have the care, custody and control of the children. Here again, it was unnecessary for the court to make any finding in this regard because it had before it the decree of the Juvenile Court establishing that fact. Moreover, nowhere under the statutes relating to adoption is the District Court required to make such a finding. Its right to proceed without consent of the parents is premised upon the Juvenile Court having so found and having consequently deprived the natural parents of custody. Try as she will, the appellant cannot get around the decree of the Juvenile Court—that decree stands as to her fitness as well as to the deprivation of custody.

We have no quarrel with the decisions in *Howes v. Cohen*, (Cal.) 255 P. (2d) 761; *In re Schwab's Adoption*, (Pa.) 50 Atl. (2d) 504; *In re adoption of D - -*, supra, cited and quoted from at length in appellant's brief (pp. 30-35) or with the principles therein established. But these decisions, to the extent quoted, only reiterate the general rule, as stated by appellant, "that the natural parents have a paramount right to their children *if they are fit and proper persons to have such custody*" (emphasis supplied). In the instant cases we have a competent and binding judicial determination by the Juvenile Court, that has never been set aside, that the natural mother is an unfit and improper person to have the custody of said children, and furthermore what is more important under the statute, a judicial deprivation of custody, which as we have heretofore shown, is *the statutory equivalent of consent*.

POINT V.

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO ADMIT IN EVIDENCE THE FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND DECREE AND JUDGMENT OF THE JUVENILE COURT DATED FEBRUARY 13, 1953, IN THE MATTER OF LARRY AND BLAINE DEVERAUX.

The decree of February 13, 1953, grew out of proceedings relating to Larry and Blaine Deveraux and was in nowise related to the two children involved in the instant causes. Consequently, it could have no materiality or binding effect in these causes, and under no rule of law cited

by appellant or stretch of the imagination can the decree in those proceedings, in any respect, become *res judicata* and binding upon the District Court in the instant cases. While we might prolong this brief by endless citations, we believe it to be so elementary that the rule of *res judicata* cannot apply as between the decree in that proceeding and the instant proceedings, if for no other reason than that the parties are not the same, that no further citation is needed.

Appellant states (Br. 36) that "the Juvenile Court is a court of competent jurisdiction in connection with the care, custody and control of the minor children and its findings and decree as to the fitness of their mother, unless appealed from, become *res judicata* and binding upon the District Court." If the words "*res judicata* and" were eliminated from this statement and if the "findings and decree" referred to were in relation to a proceeding involving the two children who are the subjects of these adoption proceedings and not to two other children, we would be inclined to agree with it. Furthermore, if such were the case the District Court could not have decreed the adoptions herein. But certainly no rule of law, at least none cited by appellant, or with which we are familiar, would permit the interposition of a decree in a wholly different matter to effect or influence such a result.

If this appellant had included the two children involved herein in her petition before the Juvenile Court for return of custody and had obtained from that court the decree which was entered but which would also have included Diane and Gene, then it would seem that the appellees would have no basis upon which to premise adoptions and the Dis-

strict Court could not so decree². This would seem to be the crux of these proceedings and the statement of appellant above quoted would appear to be a tacit admission of the basic error of her position herein and the correctness of the appellees'.

It is interesting to note that while counsel argues that the District Court erred in not admitting the findings of fact, conclusions of law and decree entered in a case not relating to the two children involved in the instant proceedings, be quite strenuously objected to the admission of any part of the files of the Juvenile Court relating to Diane and Gene other than the decree, and was sustained by the court (Tr. 36-37). Certainly if the findings and conclusions made in the very case involving the subject children were inadmissible, then *a fortiori* findings and conclusions entered in a case *not* involving the subject children would be clearly inadmissible.

We submit that the District Court did not err in refusing to admit the findings of fact, conclusions of law and judgment of the Juvenile Court in the proceedings involving only Larry and Blaine Deveraux.

² We point out, however, that the Juvenile Court only found that the appellant's present conduct "appears" to qualify her to assume the custody of those children and only returned them to her "subject to the continuing jurisdiction" of that court.

POINT VI.

THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY REFUSED TO ADMIT IN EVIDENCE THE WRITTEN REPORT OF THE TOOELE COUNTY WELFARE DEPARTMENT.

Appellant complains of the refusal of the District Court to admit the written report of the Tooele County Department of Public Welfare on the ground that this evidence was material to show that appellant had changed her way of life and was a fit and proper person to have custody of her children.

We submit, however, that the court very properly rejected this exhibit. This is a report made by an individual to Judge Alder in connection with the proceedings to restore the custody of *Larry* and *Blaine* to their natural parents—it does not purport to be the report of the State Department of Public Welfare relating to the two children the subject of these adoptions, which report is required in adoption cases. Furthermore, no issue was, or could be, before the District Court as to whether appellant had changed her way of life and was a fit and proper person to have the custody of *Diane* and *Gene*, the two children involved. The decree of the Juvenile Court to the contrary, insofar as it applies to *Diane* and *Gene*, was at that time in full force and effect and binding on the District Court. Consequently, there could be no issue on this question before the District Court and no error in its refusal to admit an exhibit offered for such purpose.

As a matter of fact, if any error was made by the court in its refusal, it was harmless because the person who made the report was before the court as a witness (Tr. 106-111) and testified substantially to the same effect as the report, and it must be assumed that the court took these matters into consideration and weighed them in nevertheless finding as a fact that the interests of the children will best be promoted by the adoptions.

POINT VII.

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN ITS FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW.

Appellant complains that the court erred in entering its findings of fact "2", and particularly that portion "and permanently depriving the aforesaid natural parents of said child."

We have heretofore pointed out under Point II that the decree of the Juvenile Court did permanently deprive the natural parents of the custody of the children within the clear and certain language of *Section 78-30-4, U. C. A.*, supra, as well as its intent. Therefore, that finding was properly made by the court.

Appellant also complains about findings "10" and "11" which are the same in both cases. She complains, not on the grounds that they are not supported by the evidence, but on the ground that such findings completely ignore

the presumption³ that it will be to the best interests of a child to be with its natural parents if they are fit and proper persons. They take no issue with findings "6" and "7", which we shall set out in full and refer to later herein, and from which, as inescapable facts, findings "10" and "11" naturally flow, aside from the fact that specific evidence thereon was received by the court from several witnesses, as pointed out in our statement of facts herein.

We submit that these findings are abundantly supported by the record and are inescapable and that the conclusions of law "1", "2" and "3" complained of by appellant naturally and logically flow from such findings and are compelled thereby.

We have also elsewhere in this brief demonstrated that it was not error on the part of the court to fail to make a finding as to the fitness of the natural mother to have custody of the children. This was not an issue before the court.

³ The effect of this presumption has been elsewhere argued at length in this brief and must necessarily be considered to have been completely and thoroughly overcome by the evidence which resulted in the findings complained of. Suffice it to say that there is an abundance of evidence in the record on the part of the appellees to support these findings and there is no evidence to the contrary on the part of the appellant that the children would be better off in her home—as pointed out by this court in *In re Olson*, supra — or in fact that she even loves them, or otherwise. She has not shown any reasons for uprooting the children from the environments and homes in which they now reside as a result of her cruel neglect and to which they have now become attached and in which they have the love, affection and care of devoted parents—something neither of them apparently ever had before coming to the appellees.

POINT VIII.

THE BEST INTERESTS OF THE CHILDREN
REQUIRE THEIR ADOPTIONS BY THE AP-
PELLEES.

We have not heretofore considered the contentions of appellant with respect to the rule of strict construction of adoption statutes. We now point out however that, as stated in *Onsrud v. Lehman*, supra, quoted from by appellant, "the tendency of the courts is away from the narrow and technical construction of adoption statutes appearing in some of the earlier cases." This tendency and its approval are considered and adopted by this Court, in the recent case of *In re adoption of D - -*, a minor, supra, in which the Court stated as follows:

"Nevertheless when questions of child custody arise, the welfare of the child and her chances for a suitable home environment and advantages in nurture, training and education to the end that she may live and be conditioned for a well adjusted, happy and useful life are important factors to consider. In fact, it is often stated that such considerations are of the paramount importance. However, this is modified by the presumption that the welfare of the child will best be subserved by being in the custody of its natural parent. In the case of *Walton v. Coffman*, Mr. Justice Wade analyzes the antecedent cases of this court regarding contests over children and cogently sets forth this principle, but recognizes that the right of the natural parent may be surrendered or lost. When a parent has failed to give the child the attention and love normally to be expected, has abandoned its care to others, and by irresponsi-

ble conduct shown an unwillingness or inability to measure up to parental responsibilities, these matters may be taken into consideration by the court in connection with other factors in determining the right to custody.

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